IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 1 2 3 Electronically Filed No. 645 Jun 03 2014 09:38 a.m. 4 ANTHONY CASTANEDA 5 Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court Appellant, 6 7 VS. 8 THE STATE OF NEVADA, 10 Respondent. 11 12 APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF 13 (Appeal from Judgment of Conviction) 14 STEVEN B. WOLFSON 15 PHILIP J. KOHN CLARK COUNTY DIST. ATTY. CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEF. 16 200 Lewis Avenue, 3rd Floor 309 South Third Street, #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 17 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 (702) 455-4711 18 19 CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO Attorney for Appellant Attorney General 20 100 North Carson Street 21 Carson City, Nevada 89701-4717 (775) 684-1265 22 23 Counsel for Respond

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a complaint on March 4, 2011, alleging ten counts of Possession of Visual Presentation Depicting Sexual Conduct of a Child. (I 2). On April 11, 2011, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint adding additional counts. (I 7). On April 14, 2011, Castaneda was bound over to District Court after the preliminary hearing. (I 14). On April 20, 2011, the State filed an Information. (I 15). On April 21, 2011, Castaneda entered a plea of not guilty at arraignment. (II 378). On February 5, 2013, the State filed an Amended Information. (I 135). On July 8, 2013, the State filed a Second Amended Information. (I 177). The parties stipulated that the images constituted visual presentations depicting sexual conduct of children. (I 184, 188). On July 16, 2013, jurors convicted on all counts. (II 288). The Court

sentenced Castaneda to 28 to 72 months, suspended for five years, concurrent on all counts, in addition to conditions under NRS 176A.410. (VIII 1693).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant Anthony Castaneda met Tami Hines when they lived at the Budget Suites in Las Vegas in 2008. The two remained friends even after both moved out of the Budget Suites. (IV 845-46). In February of 2009, Hines and her daughters needed a place to stay, and Castaneda allowed them to live with him at his house on Beverly Way. Castaneda did not charge any rent. Hines moved out in June, 2009. (IV 846-48; 859). In November of 2009, Hines returned to Castaneda's home with her four daughters and her new boyfriend, Michael Landeau, and an agreement that Hines and Landeau would pay rent. (IV 849). After what Landeau described as a "heated argument" about the rent, Castaneda served Hines with an eviction letter in January of 2010. (IV 854; VI 1233). In early February, 2010, Hines, her daughters, and Landeau moved out and rented a condominium. (IV 851). Hines admitted that she and Landeau were not on good terms with Castaneda and harbored animosity toward him; Landeau described their last argument as a "huge fight." (IV 861).

Shortly after they moved into the condo, Hines was asleep on the sofa while Landeau was on his computer. Landeau claimed he found a flash drive

in one of his moving bins. Landeau loaded the drive onto his laptop and saw some documents and images of young girls in sexual situations. (VI 1238). Landeau woke Hines to show her the photos. (IV 853). The images included copies of Castaneda's driver's license, birth certificate, Social Security card, and military records. (IV 869). Hines called a Metro officer she knew, who gave her the number for Detective Shannon Tooley. Hines and Landeau met Det. Tooley and gave her the flash drive. Hines told Tooley that she had found the drive and made no mention of Landeau's involvement. (IV 875, 909).

Upon execution of a search warrant on Castaneda's two home computers, detectives conducted a forensic examination of the shuttle computer in the living room, an HP laptop, and a Dell laptop. (V 1038). Detective Ehlers found no images of child pornography on Castaneda's son's laptop, on the Dell laptop, on two free-standing hard drives, or on CDs and DVDs taken from the home. (V 1039-40). However, images containing child pornography were found on a laptop and a desktop computer. (VI 1274). These images can be found on multiple websites and were identified many years ago as images of child pornography. (VI 1277).

Castaneda spoke with Det. Tooley and acknowledged that his computers contained a large amount of adult pornography. (VI 1286). Castaneda

repeatedly denied intentionally downloading or possessing images of child pornography. (VI 1307). Castaneda denied copying any of the images to the flash drive. (VII 1352). Numerous images of legal adult pornography were found on the computers and on the flash drive. (VII 1342). During the interview, Castaneda denied over fifty times that he had intentionally downloaded, copied, or accessed any images containing child pornography. (VII 1365). Although she failed to tell police this allegation, Hines claimed at trial that she had seen the flash drive on Castaneda's key ring. (IV 871). Landeau also claimed he recognized the flash drive as Castaneda's. (VI 1237). Although State experts could not testify with certainty regarding the source of the images or how they came to be on the drive and the computers, jurors convicted on all counts.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This case involved complex evidence and testimony regarding how these images were copied or downloaded to a flash drive and two computers.

Because the State never proved that Anthony Castaneda knowingly or willfully possessed these images, these convictions hinged on the jury's willingness to believe two witnesses regarding the source of the images on devices used by multiple members of a household with shared passwords and equal access to the Internet. The trial Court insured convictions in this case

by refusing to allow a rebuttal expert witness to testify for the defense in response to highly damaging surprise testimony from a State expert to the effect that the computers contained proof of knowing and willful possession of these images by the defendant. Although Hines's credibility was the cornerstone of the State's case, she admitted to committing perjury and to hiding from detectives her history of antipathy toward Castaneda. The State failed to prove these charges beyond a reasonable doubt, and this Court cannot deem the trial Court's admission of prejudicial and irrelevant bad acts harmless error. Finally, the trial Court erred in multiple legal and evidentiary rulings and the State committed significant acts of prosecutorial misconduct, warranting reversal of these convictions.

ARGUMENT

I. The trial Court violated the Fifth, Sixth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and the Nevada Constitution by excluding expert rebuttal testimony in support of the defense theory of the case.

The State noticed Metro Detective Paul Ehlers as an expert witness and disclosed that he would testify "as to the forensic examination of computers and/or electronic devices for the presence of child pornography." (I 113). In response to defense cross-examination regarding whether Ehlers actually

2

3

4

5

6

7

11 12

10

13 14

15

16 17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

knew if any of the files had been intentionally opened by a user, Ehlers testified that some of the files had been deliberately deleted based on remnant files located in the unallocated space on the computers. Ehlers claimed, "there would have to be interaction placing them there." (VI 1141). In response to further defense questioning regarding the fact that Ehlers had never made these observations in any written analysis or report, the State objected, and the Court conducted a hearing outside the presence of the jury.

The defense noted that Ehlers could not have verified that these remnants or "carved" files resulted from intentionally deleted files, and that they could have resulted from incomplete image downloads. The defense immediately sought leave to call a rebuttal witness based on Ehlers' surprise testimony to the effect that in his opinion, the remnant or "carved" files in the unallocated space had previously been deleted through the intentional act of a human user. (VI 1148). The State responded that the unallocated space evidence had been referenced at the preliminary hearing and was not a surprise. (VI 1153). The Court ruled that the defense had had adequate time to retain and notice an expert for rebuttal and denied the defense request to admit expert testimony in rebuttal. (VI 1154).

Ehlers ultimately testified that three carved images in the allocated space on the shuttle and the laptop showed that "a user actually had contact or

interaction" with the files, and that the presence of the carved files implicitly proved that the files had been viewed or touched by a human user and had not been downloaded or deleted by an automated program. (VI 1190). Although Ehlers eventually admitted that the files could have been deleted by an automated program, or by being overwritten, the prejudice of his testimony cannot be overstated. Jurors heard from a State expert that the presence of the carved images in unallocated space essentially proved willfulness and knowledge on Castaneda's part. (VI 1195). In addition, Ehlers offered descriptions of security software that he claimed to remember from his analysis of the drives, although he admitted that he had never mentioned this software in any written report. (VI 1121-22). During Closing Argument, the State argued that the carved images on the unallocated space constituted proof that someone had actively tried to delete the images. (VII 1469). The Court overruled the defense objection to this mischaracterization of the evidence. (VII 1469). The State also showed jurors a PowerPoint slide to the effect that this alleged deletion "showed knowledge" and constituted evidence of guilt, to which the defense also objected. (1704-1705).

At a hearing to memorialize the bench conference on this issue, the defense made a specific record regarding the need for a defense rebuttal expert. (VII 1422). The defense noted that Ehlers' testimony included definitions of

6 7

5

1

9 10

8

11

12 13

14 15

16

17

18

19 20

21

22 23

24

25 26

27

28

"access" and "modified" that fell outside the mainstream use of these terms, and that his conclusions about the intentional deletion of the carved images was an unfounded leap in logic that required expert testimony to rebut. (VII 1422-23). The Court denied the defense motion because the defense had not noticed an expert. (VII 1424).

The defense offered to file an offer of proof with the Court regarding the testimony that would have been introduced had the Court permitted the defense to call a rebuttal expert. (VII 1422). The Court responded, "All right," and allowed the defense to make a record of additional argument that had taken place during a bench conference. (VII 1421). On October 7, 2013, the defense filed a written offer of proof detailing the rebuttal testimony that would have been offered had the Court granted the defense motion to call a rebuttal witness, along with expert Leon Mare's C.V. (II 303).1

This Court reviews a district court's decision to allow an unendorsed

¹ The State filed a Motion to Strike the offer of proof. (II 350). The defense filed a memorandum and motion to reconsider the Court's decision to exclude the expert rebuttal witness. (II 356). The defense acknowledged that the motion could be properly treated as a response to the State's Motion to Strike the offer of proof, and that the offer of proof had been submitted to complete the record. (VIII 1676). Although the Court subsequently stated that the Court's response of "All right" was not intended to evince permission to file the offer of proof, the record is clear that this was the defense understanding of the Court's statement at the time. (II 357; VIII 1673). The Court ultimately denied the State's motion to strike the offer of proof while noting that the offer was not a factor in the Court's ruling during trial. (VIII 1681).

witness to testify for an abuse of discretion. Mitchell v. State, 124 Nev. 807, 819, 192 P.3d 721, 729 (2008). Here, the Court erred in denying the defense motion to introduce expert testimony in rebuttal to Ehlers' surprise testimony. Although the State argued that these opinions had been elicited at the preliminary hearing, Det. Ehlers did not actually testify at the preliminary hearing. Det. Ramirez testified for the State at the preliminary hearing; while Ramirez briefly referenced the carved images in the unallocated space, Ramirez's testimony was far less specific and far less damaging than Ehlers.' Although Ramirez testified that the images in the unallocated space had been "deleted," he did not opine that the deletion was a willful, intentional act by a human user. (I 42). Ehlers did not include this specific opinion in any written report produced to the defense. (II 357). Thus, the Court erred in denying the defense an opportunity to offer expert testimony where Ramirez's preliminary hearing testimony did not contain the same potential for prejudice as Ehlers' trial testimony.

This Court should reverse the District Court's narrow view of the admissibility of expert rebuttal testimony where the exclusion of this evidence deprived Castaneda of his right to present a defense: "The due process clauses in our constitutions assure an accused the right to introduce into evidence any testimony or documentation which would tend to prove the

defendant's theory of the case."

Pineda v. State, 88 P.3d 827, 834 (2004) (citations omitted). Similarly, the defense expert could have provided the jury with objective opinions buttressing Castaneda's defense: that carved images in unallocated space could have resulted from incomplete or partial downloads by an automated program or a virus, or from deletions by an automated program.

Both the Due Process and Compulsory Process Clauses of the Constitution protect the right of the criminal defendant to call witnesses. *Taylor v. Illinois*, 484 U.S. 400, 408-09 (1988). In *Crane v. Kentucky*, 476 U.S. 683 (1986), the United States Supreme Court noted the breadth of the right to present a defense:

Whether rooted directly in the Due Process Clause of the Fourteenth Amendment, Chambers v. Mississippi, supra, or in the Compulsory Process or Confrontation clauses of the Sixth Amendment, Washington v. Texas, 388 U.S. 14, 23 (1967); Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308 (1974), the Constitution guarantees criminal defendants "a meaningful opportunity to present a complete defense." (Citations omitted). . . We break no new ground in observing that an essential component of procedural fairness is an opportunity to be heard.

Id. at 690. In evaluating prejudice from the wrongful exclusion of expert testimony, courts take a broad view of how the testimony might have bolstered the theory of the case:

The final question is whether the defendant was unduly prejudiced by the exclusion of the proffered expert testimony. . . . The defendant's claim of self-defense hinged on giving some rational explanation of

 how the victim could have absorbed five shots while maintaining his aggressive assault . . . An explanation of the effects of cocaine intoxication may have persuaded the jury to decide that guilt was not proved beyond a reasonable doubt. The defendant should have an opportunity to present that testimony to a jury.

State v. Plew, 155 Ariz. 44, 50, 745 P.2d 102 (1987). Similarly, the defense expert would have offered a "rational explanation" of how the carved images came to exist in unallocated space, and would have demonstrated that Ehlers' conclusion that they resulted solely from intentional deletions was unreliable, baseless, and highly unlikely. In the offer of proof, the defense noted Leon Mare's specific opinions regarding Ehlers' testimony about the remnant images and numerous additional opinions that veered far from accepted expertise in this area: the features of graphic programs; the ability to visually inspect for viruses; the meaning of terms like "access" and "last modified" dates; and additional specifics of Ehlers' testimony that had never been provided to the defense. (II 303-311).

NRS 174.234(3)(b) provides that both parties have a continuing duty of disclosure regarding expert testimony. Each side must file and serve, not less than 21 days before trial, a written notice containing "a brief statement regarding the subject matter on which the expert witness is expected to testify and the substance of his testimony." NRS 174.234(2)(a) (emphasis added). Had the defense known the substance of Ehlers' anticipated testimony,

. Castaneda would have retained a defense expert to rebut the evidence. The Court denied the defense request on the grounds that the defense had failed to notice an expert. This ruling ignores the fact that Castaneda was not aware of the need for an expert because Ramirez's testimony at the preliminary hearing did not contain the specific opinion that only deliberate human intervention could have caused the carved images in the unallocated space, and because Ramirez's prior testimony did not contain the other novel and speculative opinions offered by Ehlers. Similarly, no report produced prior to trial contained these opinions. Thus, the Court's ruling ignored the State's failure to provide notice of the substance of Ehlers' testimony.

In *Grey v. State*, this Court ruled that "[i]f a party fails to provide notice of an expert rebuttal witness, the court in its sound discretion may prohibit the expert witness from testifying..." *Grey v. State*, 124 Nev. 110, 119-120, 178 P.3d 154, 161 (2008). However, in *Grey*, the State had failed to notice an expert rebuttal witness in response to the noticed defense expert, and the Court held that "the State has not sufficiently shown why its intent to have Dr. Karagiozis testify as an expert rebuttal witness was uncertain before trial." *Grey*, 124 Nev. at 119. In the instant case, while the defense had notice of the State's intent to call Ehlers, the defense had no notice that Ehlers would offer such explicit and damaging opinions regarding the deleted files

and the features of viruses and automated programs. The defense would have had no need for an expert had Ehlers remained consistent with Ramirez's testimony at the preliminary hearing or had the State produced a report containing the substance of Ehlers' anticipated testimony.

Instead, Ehlers' opinion was outside the mainstream and in conflict with Detective Ramirez's candid admissions regarding the uncertainty of "last modified" and "access" dates, as well as Ramirez's acknowledgement that a carved image could result equally from human action, viral activity, or partial downloads. Where a party's witness offers inferences that are "contrary to the facts," Courts may permit the introduction of rebuttal or explanatory evidence about the subject matter. *State v. Davis*, 731 S.E.2d 236, 243 (N.C. App. 2012). "Admission of rebuttal evidence, particularly when the [party] 'opens the door' to the subject matter, is within the sound discretion of the district court." *U.S. v. Burch*, 153 F.3d 1140, 1144 (10th Cir. 1998). This Court must distinguish *Grey* and find that the trial Judge abused her discretion in excluding the defense expert:

The adversary process could not function effectively without adherence to rules of procedure that govern the orderly presentation of facts and arguments to provide each party with a fair opportunity to assemble and submit evidence to contradict or explain the opponent's case. The trial process would be a shambles if either party had an absolute right to control the time and content of his witnesses' testimony.

Taylor v. Illinois, 484 U.S. 400, 410-411 (1988).

The proposed testimony would have been specific and limited, and the Court could have taken a brief recess to permit the State an opportunity to prepare. This Court has found error in trial courts' rejection of the defendant's right to present sur-rebuttal evidence and witnesses. Berner v. State, 104 Nev. 695, 697, 765 P.2d 1144, 1146 (1988) (conviction reversed in part because . . . "the court refused to allow appellant to put on a surrebuttal witness, who might have been able to shed some light on the meaning" of evidence presented by the State). Where a district Judge permitted the State to call an unnoticed expert, this Court found no error in part because the State had not demonstrated bad faith and because the defendant failed to show prejudice regarding his substantial rights. Mitchell v. State, 124 Nev. 807, 819, 192 P.3d 721, 729 (2008). Similarly, the State in the instant case failed to allege or demonstrate bad faith on the part of the defense in failing to notice an expert witness, and the State could not have shown prejudice where the State's own expert had introduced the subject matter of the proposed rebuttal testimony.

This testimony went to the heart of this case and implicated Castaneda's constitutional right to present a defense. "The right of an accused in a criminal trial to due process is, in essence, the right to a fair opportunity to

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