### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

ANTHONY CASTANEDA,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed Oct 03 2014 08:22 a.m. Tracie K. Lindeman Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 64515

### **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

#### Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

AUDREY M. CONWAY Nevada Bar #005611 Deputy Public Defender 309 South Third Street, Suite #226 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 (702) 455-4685 STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

First, the district court did not abuse its discretion in deciding not to allow Appellant to call an unendorsed expert witness for the following reasons: 1) Appellant was given sufficient notice of the State's experts and their potential testimony; and 2) Appellant did not comply with the applicable rules regarding notice of an expert witness.

Second, the State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct for the following reasons: 1) the State did not shift the burden to Appellant; 2) the State did not improperly vouch for a witness; 3) the State did not misstate evidence; 4) the State's comments regarding Appellant's objections were sustained and quickly neutralized; and 5) Appellant cannot show prejudice.

Third, the State presented sufficient evidence to convict Appellant beyond a reasonable doubt on all 15 counts. Images of child pornography were discovered on three different mediums belonging to Appellant.

Fourth, the district court did not abuse its discretion in admitting evidence of Appellant's supposed prior-bad-acts without a hearing because: 1) the supposed acts do not qualify as prior-bad-acts; and 2) there is a sufficient record for this Court on appeal; and 3) the result would not have been different absent the evidence.

Fifth, the district court did not abuse its discretion in settling jury instructions for the following reasons: 1) the district court did not arbitrarily make its decision;

4

2) instructions were a correct statement of law; and 3) other instructions adequately covered Appellant's proposed instructions.

Sixth, the district court did not err in denying Appellant's motion to vacate Counts 2 through 15 because his conduct did not constitute a singular act of possession, but rather, constituted 15 separate acts of possession.

Seventh, the district court did not abuse its discretion in denying his motion for a mistrial based on alleged witness perjury because the statements were not material.

Eighth, the district court did not abuse its discretion when it denied Appellant's request to hold a hearing regarding Juror 6 because Appellant's concerns were based on mere speculation, and Appellant extensively questioned Juror 6 during the selection process.

Finally, cumulative error does not warrant reversal. Appellant has failed to show any error, and, therefore, cannot show cumulative error.

## ARGUMENT

#### I.

### THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN DECIDING NOT TO ALLOW APPELLANT TO CALL AN UNENDORSED WITNESS.

Appellant provides no basis for why he was entitled to ignore the requirement that he provide the adequate notice to call an expert witness. Essentially, Appellant appears to be arguing that he was surprised by Detective Ehlers' testimony because Detective Ehlers gave an opinion on a matter that was not written verbatim into a report.

At first, Appellant made the request to call an expert witness because of the fact that Detective Ehlers gave an opinion on why he believed certain images that were found during his forensic examination were previously deleted by a human user. VI AA 1148. The following day, Appellant tacked on the argument that he should be entitled to now call two expert witnesses because of the issue that he argued the day before as well as the fact that he did not like how Detective Ehlers defined certain terms. VII AA 1422.

This Court reviews whether to allow an unendorsed witness to testify for abuse of discretion. <u>Mitchell v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 807, 819, 192 P.3d 721, 729 (2008). Although a strong presumption exists in favor of allowing late-disclosed witnesses to testify, <u>see Sampson v. State</u>, 121 Nev. 820, 827, 122 P.3d 1255, 1260 (2005), the right to present testimony is not absolute and must be balanced against "countervailing public interests," <u>Taylor v. Illinois</u>, 484 U.S. 400, 414 (1988). However despite noting this interest, this Court further held that the calling of an unnoticed witness by the defense can cause an "unfair surprise to the State." <u>Sampson</u>, 121 Nev. at 828. This Court went on to say that "[F]airness during trial is not one-sided and applies both to the defendant and the State." Id.

6

In the instant matter, Appellant attempted to untimely endorse two expert witnesses during trial in violation of NRS 174.234(2)(a) & (3)(b). See NRS 174.234(2)(a)&(3)(b) (providing that both parties have a continuing duty of disclosure regarding expert testimony, with each side having to file and serve a written notice within 21 days of trial). Essentially, Appellant claims the district court erred in excluding the testimony of any unnoticed defense expert witnesses because Detective Ehlers gave "surprise" testimony when he answered that he believed some of the pornographic files had been deliberately deleted. AOB at 8. According to Appellant, he also wanted to give a complete account of Detective Ehlers' answers, which he felt were lacking. VI AA 1422.

Appellant, both during trial and in this appeal, has consistently argued that there is no way Detective Ehlers could testify the way that he did because such testimony was not specifically memorialized in a report. However despite Appellant's continuous assertions, Detective Ehlers' testimony is entirely unremarkable. During cross-examination, Detective Ehlers was asked the following:

Q: You don't know if anyone has opened any of these file, do you?

A: I - I would have to disagree with that and –and I would say that because of the few files that were accessed and interaction with them done. And I would say that because of the few files that were found in unallocated space that were deleted; there would have to be interaction placing them there. VI AA 1141. Appellant simply does not like the answer that Detective Ehlers, who was noticed as an expert, I AA 131, gave. Detective Ehlers responded that in his opinion, and based upon his forensic examination of the items in question, he believed that a person had worked with and deleted some of the pornographic images.

Further, Detective Elhers' testimony on direct was centered on installation dates, VI AA 1096-1097, "linkage" between the mediums, VI AA 1100, digital fingerprints, VI AA 1101, file structures, VI AA 1103, transfer dates, VI AA 1103-1106, and anti-virus software, VI AA 1106. Appellant cannot now claim he was surprised by testimony he opened the door to and in which he didn't like response to.

Appellant then went on to challenge Detective Ehlers on the fact that his testimony was never memorialized in his forensic examination of the computers. VII AA 1142. Detective Ehlers explained that the information is in fact in the report. VII AA 1146. The exchange went as follows:

Q: You testified that they (the images) were deleted right?

A: Yes

Q: But you don't know that because you didn't do the analysis correct?

A: Well, there's not an analysis to be done to necessarily see if it can be deleted. That is common – it – that is indicative that if the file is in this type of space then it was deleted. It couldn't have gotten there any other way except being placed in there. So yes, that is what I believe occurred. VII AA 1146.

The facts in the record indicate that the information of the images found in unallocated space were absolutely put into the record. The fact that Detective Ehlers did not specifically write in a report that the images in unallocated space were likely deleted is of little consequence. The *information* of what was found during the examinations was completely in the report. The fact that Detective Ehlers did not write down every single possible significance to every single piece of evidence examined is absolutely normal. For example in a differing context, a forensic report could explain that blood was found on a piece of evidence. However, the definition and biological makeup of blood is most likely not something that would actually be written on the report. The same is true here. Detective Ehlers documented his findings that pornographic images were found in unallocated space. As an expert, he was able to give his reasonable opinion that the facts and circumstances of this case indicate that the items were deleted.

Appellant also argues that this evidence prejudiced him because the testimony of Detective Ehlers contained proof of knowing and willful possession. AOB p.6. However, Detective Ehlers only indicated that he believed that the images had been deleted by a human. He did not testify that Appellant was the one who had deleted those images. Detective Ehlers' testimony was only a small portion of the entire evidence that was adduced against the Appellant at trial. In exercising its discretion, the district court denied Appellant's request, holding that Appellant had adequate time to retain and notice an expert for rebuttal. VI AA 1154. The district court made this determination based on the previous representations by Appellant that a continuance would be needed in order to secure an expert for trial. I AA 125, 126. However, in the six months that existed between Appellant's request to continue the trial and the trial that eventually took place, an expert witness notice was never filed. Appellant failed to provide this notice despite the fact that they had hired and consulted with a forensic computer examiner. VI AA 1156. However since no notice was ever filed, one can only assume that the strategic decision was made not to call an expert witness at trial.

The district court noted the same when it explained to Appellant that the State's expert had been the subject of extensive cross-examination, VII AA 1423, that he adequately explained how he came to his conclusions, VII AA 1423, that Appellant certainly had the ability and opportunity to call the expert he consulted before trial that had examined the particular hard drives, VII AA 1422, and that any decision to not call the expert was strategic, VII AA 1424.

In the instant matter, the State provided notice of two experts, Detective Ehlers, and Detective Vicente Ramirez. I AA 131. In the notice, Detective Ehlers and Ramirez were listed as experts as to the forensic examination of computers and electronic devices for the purposes of discovering child pornography. I AA 131.

Further, Appellant was put on notice to the type of opinions each expert would offer. For instance, at the preliminary hearing, Detective Ramirez testified, I AA 35, and identified that the images in the unallocated space had been deleted, I AA 42. Although Detective Ramirez did not state at that time that the deletion was a willful, intentional act by a human, and that Detective Ehlers subsequently testified to that at the trial, Appellant was put on sufficient notice of the potential testimony.

Further, Appellant conceded his consulted expert had access to the preliminary hearing when reviewing the case and all other files, VI AA 1153, but was not sure if he reviewed it, VI AA 1153. Inadequate review of an expert should not supersede the requirements set forth in NRS 174.234(2)(a)& (3)(b).

The record clearly establishes Appellant had notice of the expert witnesses, had information regarding the deletion aspect of the State's evidence, and had hired an expert witness of their own to consult. Because of this, there was no abuse of discretion in denying Appellant's request to present evidence in the form of an unendorsed expert witness.

### II. THE PROSECUTOR DID NOT COMMIT MISCONDUCT.

Appellant argues that the State committed burden shifting during its closing argument and rebuttal, but this argument also lacks merit. When considering claims of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court engages in a two-step analysis: first, this Court determines whether the prosecutor's conduct was improper; second, if the conduct was improper, this Court determines whether the improper conduct warrants reversal. <u>Valdez v. State</u>, 124 Nev. 1172, 196 P.3d 465 (2008).

With respect to the second step of this analysis, this Court will not reverse a conviction based on prosecutorial misconduct if it was harmless error. <u>Id.</u> The proper standard of harmless-error review depends on whether the prosecutorial misconduct is of a constitutional dimension. <u>Id.</u> If the error is of constitutional dimension, this Court applies the <u>Chapman v. California</u> standard and will reverse unless the State demonstrates, beyond a reasonable doubt, that the error did not contribute to the verdict. <u>Id.</u> If the error is not of constitutional dimension, this Court will reverse only if the error substantially affects the jury's verdict. <u>Id.</u>

Prejudice from prosecutorial misconduct results when a prosecutor's statements so infect the proceedings with unfairness as to make the results a denial of due process. <u>Browning v. State</u>, 188 P.3d 60, 72 (2008). When reviewing for prosecutorial misconduct, the challenged comments must be considered in context, and a "criminal conviction is not to be lightly overturned on the basis of a prosecutor's comments standing alone." Id.

a. The State did not shift the burden.

On appeal, Appellant alleges the State unconstitutionally shifted the burden during its closing argument. Appellant asserts that the State's discussion of constructive possession shifted the burden. AOB at 17. Appellant takes issue with one statement where the State in explaining the concept of constructive possession argued, "you have the power and intention to exercise dominion and control over something...[and having] the ability to use those computers...[is] why he possessed them" (paraphrased). VII AA 1454. Appellant objected, VII AA 1454, to the inclusion of constructive possession, and the mischaracterization of constructive possession and the law, VII AA 1454, 14556. On appeal, Appellant asserts that the use of 'ability to use" minimized the states burden of proof. AOB at 17.

As stated before, any potential statements should be viewed in context and not as comments standing alone. Here, the State was required to prove a number of material elements beyond a reasonable doubt. Per the crimes with which Appellant was charged, the State was required by law to prove that Appellant willfully and knowingly possessed images of child pornography. The State was required to speak about possession because the images themselves were found within other electronic devices.

Throughout the closing argument, the State continuously reiterated that the burden was beyond a reasonable doubt, VII AA 1452-1453, 1463, 1480, and that it needed to prove Appellant willfully and knowingly possessed the images, VII AA 1453, 1456, 1462, 1463, 1469. The State's PowerPoint presentation also gives proof that the State did not eliminate the necessity of proving the "willfully and knowingly" element of the crimes. VIII AA 1703.

13

Second, Appellant asserts that the State's rhetorical question "what evidence do you have in this case to determine that Tami made up anything," constituted burden shifting. AOB at 17; VII AA 1469-1470. Appellant objected, but was overruled. VII AA 1469-1470. Third, Appellant asserts the State's comments regarding Ms. Hines' discovery of the thumb drive, and whether there was any evidence presented that this was a set-up, VII AA 1480, constituted burden shifting as well, VII AA 1480; AOB at 17. In addition, Appellant objected to the State's comments regarding the lack of evidence for the defense theory, VIII AA 1569, 1569, the State's PowerPoint slide discussing the evidence presented at trial, VIII AA 1577, the State's characterization of Appellant's argument, VIII AA 1574, and the State's discussion regarding Appellant's credibility, VIII AA 1575.

Appellant's arguments, however, fail for several reasons because nothing about the State's argument amounted to improper burden shifting. The State was merely rebutting Appellant's defense, that is, that there was not any evidence to suggest a virus had been placed on his computer, or that Ms. Hines was setting up Appellant over animosity between the parties. See Cook v. Schriro, 538 F.3d 1000, 1020 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding that prosecutors may comment on the failure of defense to produce evidence to support an affirmative defense so long as it does not directly comment on the defenses failure to call a witness). Further, the State was merely commenting on the evidence presented during trial. Bridges v. State, 116

Nev. 752, 762, 6 P.3d 1000, 1008 (2000) ("The prosecutor had a right to comment upon the testimony and to ask the jury to draw inferences from the evidence, and has the right to state fully his views as to what the evidence shows.").

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